STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Horry County

Steven H. John, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

TYRONE BEATY,

APPELLANT

Appellate Case No. 2010-167826

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

SUSAN B. HACKETT
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

RECEIVED

JAN 23 2013

SC Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Did the trial judge err in allowing a police officer to testify that a gunshot wound to the victim's hand was a defensive wound and could not have occurred while the victim was reaching for a handgun on his person where the officer was qualified as an expert in forensic investigation only?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

An Horry County Grand Jury indicted Appellant for murder and armed robbery. R. 297. Heather von Herrmann prosecuted Appellant, and G. Scott Bellamy represented Appellant. R. 1. From July 12, 2010 through July 16, 2010, Appellant was tried before the Honorable Steven H. John and a jury. R. 1. The jury began its deliberations at 12:10 p.m. on July 15, 2010. R. 290 lines 5-6. At 6:15 p.m., the jury requested to go home and resume deliberations the following day. R. 291 lines 4-15. Judge John honored the jury's request. R. 291 line 18 – R. 292 line 24. The jury resumed deliberations at 9 a.m. the following day. R. 292 lines 23-24. At 11:50 a.m., the jury returned with its verdict finding Appellant guilty as charged. R. 293 lines 6-10; R. 294 lines 15-22. Judge John then sentenced Appellant to thirty-four years for murder, and thirty years for armed robbery. R. 295 line 15 - R. 296 line 3.

Appellant filed a timely notice of appeal. This brief follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The police discovered the body of Miles Slay, the victim, on October 21, 2005. R. 101 lines 7-13; R. 103 lines 7-12. Corey Smalls, an admitted drug dealer, testified that on October 20, 2005, he received a telephone call from the victim requesting a large quantity of cocaine. R. 3 lines 1-2; R. 5 line 2 – R. 6 line 3. Corey testified that he contacted Appellant requesting the cocaine on the victim's behalf. R. 7 lines 1-2. According to Corey, Appellant said he was unable to obtain the desired quantity. R. 7 lines 4-5. Corey, and his cousin Antonio Smalls, then drove to Murrells Inlet to pick up Appellant. R. 11 line 20 – R. 12 line 2. Corey claimed Appellant, who was with his cousin Neil Hill, wanted to rob the victim, and Corey agreed. R. 12 lines 6-22. The four then went to Food Lion where they purchased flour and sandwich bags. R. 14 lines 7-10. Appellant then placed the flour and some real cocaine in the sandwich bags. R. 14 lines 10-13. Afterwards, Corey met the victim at a gas station. R. 20 lines 22-25. Corey got into the car with the victim, and the two proceeded to a pre-determined area for the robbery. R. 24 lines 22-24; R. 27 line 19 – R. 28 line 15. When Corey and Miles arrived at the location, Appellant walked over to them. R. 31 line 22. Corey exited the victim's vehicle. R. 31 lines 24-25.

Corey claimed that by the time he made it to the second vehicle where Antonio and Neil were waiting, he heard Appellant say "He's grabbing for something. He's grabbing for something." R. 33 lines 13-17. Corey then observed Appellant and the victim "tugging-a-war" with a bag of money. R. 33 lines 18-20. According to Corey, Appellant pulled out a gun and shot into the victim's vehicle three times. R. 33 lines 21-22. Appellant ran toward the second vehicle. R. 34 lines 5-6. Appellant threw a bag of money in Corey's lap. R. 34 lines 6-7. Corey testified that Appellant realized the victim was still alive as they were

driving off and ordered that the car be stopped. Appellant “jumped back out the car and went back and finished him off.” R. 34 lines 9-12. The four left the immediate area together, but went their separate ways shortly thereafter. R. 37 line 25 – R. 38 line 11; R. 39 line 2 – R. 40 line 8.

Neil Hill also testified on behalf of the prosecution. Neil testified that Appellant called him on October 20, 2005 asking Neil to accompany Appellant to Murrells Inlet because Corey owed Appellant a large sum of money. R. 105 lines 16-18; R. 106 lines 10-16. When Neil and Appellant arrived at Corey’s house, Corey and Antonio were leaving. R. 107 lines 5-8. Neil testified Appellant confronted Corey about his debt, and Corey responded he had to “go take care of something” and afterwards he would pay the debt and buy more. R. 109 lines 3-8. Neil and Appellant got into the car with Corey and Antonio. R. 108 lines 8-10. Neil testified there was no conversation in the car about ripping off a potential drug buyer. R. 109 lines 14-23. The four drove to Food Lion, where Appellant purchased tape, flour and sandwich bags. R. 110 lines 2-9. Neil observed Appellant placing the flour in sandwich bags, and “figured out that it was going to be a drug rip.” R. 110 lines 10-15; R. 122 lines 21-23. Neil fell asleep in the car and woke up to gunshots. R. 115 lines 19-20. Neil observed Appellant jumped into the car, followed by Corey. R. 116 lines 12-13. Corey instructed the occupants to take the events of that day with them to their graves and that if he heard anyone knew anything, he would pay that person a visit. R. 116 lines 14-21; R. 131 line 13 – R. 132 line 5. Upon further questioning, Neil testified he heard three or four gunshots and did not hear a second set of shots. R. 117 lines 11-14. The four separated shortly thereafter. R. 117 line 20 – R. 118 line 2.

Antonio Smalls testified that on October 20, 2005, he overheard Corey on the phone with the victim who wanted to purchase a large quantity of cocaine. R. 141 line 19 – R. 143 line 1. He then heard Corey make phone calls trying to fill that order. R. 143 lines 2-10. Thereafter, Corey and Antonio drove to Murrells Inlet to pick up Appellant and Neil. R. 143 lines 16-17; R. 144 line 24 – R. 145 line 1. The four then went to Food Lion where Appellant purchased flour, duct tape, and plastic bags. R. 146 lines 2-7. Antonio testified there was a plan for a drug rip, which included giving the purchaser the flour in the bag so he would think he was getting drugs. R. 147 lines 21-25. The four drove to Foxtrot apartments, where they dropped off Corey, who was supposed to meet the victim. R. 152 lines 18-21; R. 153 lines 6-8. Antonio, Neil, and Appellant then drove to another location. R. 153 lines 13-14.

Corey and the victim arrived at the location where Antonio, Neil and Appellant waited. R. 157 lines 10-11; R. 160 line 13- R. 161 line 1. Antonio testified that he saw Appellant with a gun on his lap at that point. R. 157 lines 10-16. Corey got out of the victim's car and walked toward Antonio. R. 162 lines 5-8. Corey remained outside of the car, standing near the back. R. 162 lines 13-19. Appellant then got out of the car and walked to the victim's car. R. 162 lines 20-23. Antonio did not see the gun on Appellant at that time. R. 163 line 6. Antonio then heard three gunshots and saw Appellant leaving the victim's car. R. 163 lines 12-19. Antonio testified he did not see Appellant fire the shots, but did not observe anyone else near the victim's vehicle at the time. R. 163 lines 20-24. He observed Appellant trying to reach for something at the victim's car and then heard two more gunshots. R. 164 lines 6-9. Appellant returned to the car, and Corey asked why he did that. R. 166 lines 4-5. Appellant responded that the victim was reaching for something. R.

166 line 7. The four left the immediate area together and then went their separate ways. R.

166 lines 14-21; R. 167 lines 12-13; R. 168 lines 21-25.

ARGUMENT

The trial judge erred in allowing a police officer to testify that a gunshot wound to the victim's hand was a defensive wound and could not have occurred while the victim was reaching for a handgun on his person where the officer was qualified as an expert in forensic investigation only.

Dr. Cynthia Schandl testified as an expert in the field of forensic pathology for the prosecution. R. 206 lines 8-9. Dr. Schandl testified she performed an autopsy on the victim on October 22, 2005. R. 206 lines 13-17. She testified she could not tell “exactly how many times he was shot. He was shot either five, or six, or seven times.” R. 211 lines 21-22. Dr. Schandl explained that all of the gunshot wounds went all the way through the victim's body except one; thus, there were at least two holes in the body for each shot. R. 211 line 23 – R. 212 line 2. According to Dr. Schandl, determining how many times the victim was shot was complicated by the fact that shots went all the way through the body which would make it possible for a bullet to re-enter the body and go through a second time. R. 212 lines 3-6. Concerning the gunshot wound to the victim's right hand, Dr. Schandl testified the bullet went through the hand and may have re-entered at some other place. R. 214 lines 12-14. When the prosecutor asked Dr. Schandl if the gunshot wound to the victim's hand was consistent with a defensive wound, Dr. Schandl responded affirmatively explaining that “any wound that's to the hands or even to the forearms is considered a defensive wound because one can presume that one would attempt to defend themselves if they were being fired upon.” R. 219 lines 7-14.

The prosecution called Peter Cestare to testify. Cestare testified he was employed with the Horry County Police Department as a Specialist in charge of the crime scene,

property, and evidence sections. R. 233 lines 12-15. At the time of trial, Cestare was in his eighth year with Horry County, but had been in policing since 1981. R. 233 lines 21-22. He explained his current duties were “supervise on a day to day basis the crime scene investigators ... respond to investigations ... oversee and direct their responsibilities and duties at investigations.” R. 234 lines 3-6. He testified that he analyzed crime scenes and was “called upon periodically to reconstruct crime scenes.” R. 234 lines 7-12. Cestare testified that his educational experience and training was as follows:

Prior to Horry County, I was employed by the New York City Housing Police Department under N.Y.P.D. I was a detective, rose through the ranks from police officer to detective commander there. I was in charge of their special investigations unit which would consist of major cases, homicides, mechanical deaths, things of that nature. I’ve been trained by the N.Y.P.D in crime scene processing, forensics process, DNA collection and handling of evidence by N.Y.P.D and the Department of Justice, blood stain pattern interpretation and analysis by both N.Y.P.D. and the Department of Justice, crime scene processing and analysis by N.Y.P.D. and the Department of Justice, crime scene reconstruction by N.Y.P.D. and the Department of Justice, ballistics alignment, laser and trajectory by N.Y.P.D. and the Department of Justice - - I’m sorry, by N.Y.P.D., AFIS, Automated Fingerprint Identification System, through both SLED and Motorola, the manufacturer of the equipment. I’m trained in photography through Nikon, the Nikon School of Photography, and I’ve been trained in fingerprinting, fume and chemical treatment and alternate light source, both by N.Y.P.D. and by Horry County Police Department.

R. 234 line 16 – R. 235 line 12. The prosecutor asked “so would all of those things sort of fall under the purview of forensic investigation.” R. 235 lines 13-14. Cestare responded affirmatively. R. 235 line 15. Thereafter, the prosecutor moved to have Cestare qualified as an expert in the field of forensic investigation. R. 235 lines 22-24. Appellant did not object. R. 236 lines 2-3. Thus, the court qualified Cestare to give his opinion in the filed of forensic investigation. R. 236 lines 4-5.

Cestare testified that a gun was recovered from the victim's body when officers removed him from the vehicle. R. 243 line 18 – R. 244 line 15. The gun was found on the victim's right side under his t-shirt tucked into the waistband of his pants. R. 244 lines 11-15. The prosecutor then asked if Cestare had an opinion about whether or not the victim was attempting to reach that weapon. R. 247 lines 21-23; R. 248 line 6-7. Appellant objected. R. 247 lines 24-25. The trial judge instructed the witness not to answer the question at that point. R. 248 line 8. Thereafter, an off-the-record bench conference took place. R. 248 lines 10-11. The prosecutor then asked more questions concerning the gun. R. 248 lines 12-19. The prosecutor offered a photograph of the victim's hand into evidence. R. 249 lines 2-3. Appellant objected based on relevance and the cumulative nature of the photograph in light of the pathologist's testimony concerning the number and types of wounds. R. 249 lines 5-10. Cestare then testified that the photograph was taken "to specifically show something that [he] observed on the victim's hand that day." R. 249 lines 21-22. Based upon that testimony, the judge admitted the photograph into evidence over Appellant's objection. R. 249 lines 23-24.

Cestare testified that the photograph showed a defensive wound on the victim's right hand. R. 250 lines 9-15. When Appellant objected, the trial judge permitted Cestare to testify "based upon the Court qualifying him as a forensic investigator and his experience." R. 250 lines 18-21. Cestare testified based upon the photograph, he could tell "the victim's hand was up in a defensive manner blocking something coming at him, a shot." R. 250 lines 22-24. When Cestare began testifying regarding a bruising pattern, Appellant objected again. R. 251 lines 6-9. The trial judge explained he understood the objection was to exceeding his qualifications; however, he overruled the objection. R. 251 lines 10-14. The

prosecutor then asked if there was any way to determine the sequence of the shots. R. 253 lines 20-21. Cestare started to testify regarding what he could say based on scene as he observed it. R. 253 lines 22-25. Appellant objected and explained that the pathologist testified there was no way to determine the order of the shots. R. 254 lines 1-4. The trial judge explained that he did not understand the answer to be what Appellant said and instructed Cestare to answer. R. 254 lines 5-8. Cestare testified that the injury to the hand was a defensive wound, indicating the hand was up. R. 254 lines 10-12. Using two photographs, Cestare testified the victim's arm was "in a downward angle towards the front passenger floorboard." R. 254 lines 12-15. He further stated that "for the shot to have been through his hand, it could not have occurred where his hand is now, so therefore, his hand had to be up when that shot occurred." R. 254 lines 15-18. The trial judge ruled he would allow that testimony. R. 254 line 20.

In order for an individual "[t]o be competent to testify as an expert, 'a witness must have acquired by reason of study or experience or both such knowledge and skill in a profession or science that he is better qualified than the jury to form an opinion on the particular subject of his testimony.'" Gooding v. St. Francis Xavier Hosp., 326 S.C. 248, 252-253, 487 S.E.2d 596, 598 (1997)(quoting O'Tuel v. Villani, 318 S.C. 24, 28, 455 S.E.2d 698, 701 (Ct. App. 1995)). Our Rules of Evidence provide that "If scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge will assist the trier of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue, a witness qualified as an expert by knowledge, skill or experience, training, or education, may testify thereto in the form of an opinion or otherwise." Rule 702, SCRE.

In State v. Ellis, 345 S.C. 175, 177-178, 547 S.E.2d 490, 491 (2001), the Supreme Court held a police officer, who was qualified to testify as an expert in crime scene processing and fingerprint identification exceeded the scope of his expertise when he testified as to his conclusion drawn from the measurements and observations he made. In Ellis, the victim was found dead as a result of gunshot wounds near his bicycle and a knife. The defendant admitted to shooting the victim, but claimed he acted in self defense when the victim dropped his bike and approached the defendant with the knife. When the victim refused to stop, the defendant shot the victim. The prosecution's theory of the case was that the defendant shot the victim while the victim remained on the bike. Id. at 176, 547 S.E.2d at 491. The police officer testified that the victim was on his bike when he was shot based upon his measurements and observations of the crime scene. Id. at 177-178, 547 S.E.2d at 491. Further, the Court held the error in allowing the officer to testify was not harmless in light of the defendant's contention that he was acting in self defense. Id. at 178, 547 S.E.2d at 491. The Court held the prosecutor was free to argue that the evidence supported an inference that the victim was on the bicycle at the time of the shooting, and the jury could have concluded as such, but the officer "was not qualified to give such an 'expert' opinion." Id.