**STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

**Appeal from Horry County
The Honorable Steven H. John, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2010-167826**

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

v.

TYRONE BEATY,

APPELLANT.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

**ALAN WILSON
Attorney General**

**JOHN W. McINTOSH
Chief Deputy Attorney General**

**DONALD J. ZELENKA
Assistant Deputy Attorney General**

**WILLIAM EDGAR SALTER, III
Senior Assistant Attorney General**

**Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-6305**

**J. GREGORY HEMBREE
Solicitor, Fifteenth Judicial Circuit**

**P. O. Drawer 1276
Conway, SC 29528-1276
(843) 915-5460**

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT.

RECEIVED
FEB 28 2013

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

Beaty also objected to introduction of a photograph of the victim's right hand (**State's Exhibit 45**), on the grounds that it was irrelevant and the cumulative to the pathologist's testimony. After Specialist Cestare testified that the photograph would assist him in explaining the crime scene and that it depicted something that he observed on the victim's hand on October 21st, the trial judge allowed the State to introduce it. **R. p. 248, line 19 - p. 250, line 1.**

Then, the following colloquy occurred of which Beaty now complains:

Q. What is this a photograph of?

A. This photograph shows the victim's right hand. You can clearly tell it's the right hand by the placement of the thumb and fingers. What you see on this photograph is both -- is two wounds, entrance and exit, and what makes this photograph unique to me is that it's what I would refer to as a defensive wound. This photograph indicates to me - - -

MR. BELLAMY: Your Honor, I am going to —

A. - - - that this person's hand was up.

THE COURT: I am going to allow him, based upon the Court qualifying him as a forensic investigator and his experience, I am going to allow him to testify and respond to that question. Thank you.

A. This photograph would indicate that this person's hand was up in a defensive manner blocking something coming at him, a shot. Commonly a defensive wound is - - there's two, two types of wounds when you classify wounds on a body, offensive and defensive, offensive being the aggressor, defensive being the person who is trying to defend themselves or protect themselves. This would appear to me to be a defensive wound, like the hand was placed up.

R. p. 250, line 8 - p. 251, line 5. The trial judge understood Beaty's objection was that the testimony exceeded the witness' qualifications. **R. p. 251, lines 10 - 14.** *See also* **R. p. 248, lines 1 - 2.**

Thereafter, Specialist Cestare was asked whether he could determine the sequence of the gunshots, and he indicated that although it was possible to do so "[i]n some cases," here he could only determine "how everything was placed." Beaty objected because the pathologist had previously testified that it was not possible to determine the order of the shots. **R. p. 253, line 20 - p. 254, line 4.** The trial judge did not understand Cestare's answer to contradict the pathologist's opinion but indicated that he had to hear the answer in order to make a ruling and he instructed Specialist Cestare to answer the question. **R. P. 254, lines 5-9.**

Cestare then testified that:

A. As I mentioned earlier, in looking at that injury, it is in my opinion a

defensive wound which would indicate his hand was up. When you look at the photos you've shown here, State's Exhibit 20, State's Exhibit 36, clearly show the victim's arm in a downward angle towards the front passenger floorboard. In order for that shot to have been through his hand, it could not have occurred where his hand is now, so, therefore, his hand had to be up when that shot occurred.

R. p. 254, lines 10-18. The trial judge ruled that this testimony was admissible. **R. p. 254, line 20.**¹⁷

B. Discussion.

The State submits that Beaty's argument is without merit, and that the trial judge properly overruled his objection. It is well-settled that:

The qualification of a witness as an expert and the admissibility of his or her testimony are matters left to the sound discretion of the trial judge, whose decision will not be reversed on appeal absent an abuse of that discretion and prejudice to the opposing party. *Nelson v. Taylor*, 347 S.C. 210, 214, 553 S.E.2d 488, 490 (Ct.App.2001). An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law. *State v. Wise*, 359 S.C. 14, 21, 596 S.E.2d 475, 478 (2004).

State v. Jamison, 372 S.C. 649, 652, 643 S.E.2d 700, 701 (Ct.App. 2007). *See also* Rule 702, SCRE ("If scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge will assist the trier of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue, a witness qualified as an expert by knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education, may testify thereto in the form of an opinion or otherwise"); *State v. Tapp*, 398 S.C. 376, 385, 728 S.E.2d 468, 473 (2012) ("The admission or exclusion of evidence is an action within the sound discretion of the circuit court and will not be disturbed on appeal absent an abuse of discretion. An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the circuit court are either controlled by an error of law or are based on unsupported factual conclusions") (citations

¹⁷ Beyond the determination that the hand wound was a defensive wound, Cestare could not determine the order in which the shots were fired. **R. p. 255, lines, 22-25.**

omitted); *State v. Robinson*, 396 S.C. 577, 586, 722 S.E.2d 820, 825 (Ct.App. 2012).

“There is no abuse of discretion as long as the witness has acquired by study or practical experience such knowledge of the subject matter of his testimony as would enable him to give guidance and assistance to the jury in resolving a factual issue which is beyond the scope of the jury's good judgment and common knowledge. *State v. Henry*, 329 S.C. 266, 495 S.E.2d 463 (Ct.App.1997).” *White*, 372 S.C. at 374-75, 642 S.E.2d at 612. In other words, “[f]or a court to find a witness competent to testify as an expert, the witness must be better qualified than the fact finder to form an opinion on the particular subject of the testimony.” *Ellis v. Davidson*, 358 S.C. 509, 525, 595 S.E.2d 817, 825-26 (Ct.App. 2004) (citations omitted).

Relevant evidence is “evidence having any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence.” Rule 401, SCRE. Although relevant, evidence may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice. Rule 403, SCRE; *State v. Shuler*, 353 S.C. 176, 184, 577 S.E.2d 438, 442 (2003); *State v. Martin*, 347 S.C. 522, 533, 556 S.E.2d 706, 712 (Ct. App. 2001).

Applying the above standards to the present case, it is clear that Beaty’s argument lacks merit. In support of his claim of error, Beaty relies upon the Supreme Court’s decision in *State v. Ellis*, 345 S.C. 175, 177-79, 547 S.E.2d 490, 491- 92 (2001). Respondent submits that his reliance is misplaced.

In *Ellis*, the defendant was convicted of murder. The victim was found in the street, near both his bicycle and a knife. Ellis admitted that he had shot the victim three times. However, he maintained that he had acted in self-defense because the victim, who wore a leg brace, had dropped

the bicycle and approached him in a menacing fashion while holding the knife. Ellis claimed that he had verbally warned the victim to stop, but that he instinctively shot when the victim jumped towards him, while still “holding the knife in a threatening position.” *Id* at 177, 547 S.E.2d at 491.

In order to disprove the self-defense claim, the prosecution sought to show that “the victim was shot while riding the bike.” To this end, the State presented a police officer, who “was qualified as an expert in crime scene processing and fingerprint identification. *Id*. Over objection, the officer was permitted to opine “that, in his opinion, the victim was astride the bike when shot.” *Id*.

On appeal, the Supreme Court agreed with Ellis’ argument that the officer was not qualified to offer opinion testimony in the area of crime scene reconstruction because he had not been qualified as an expert in crime scene reconstruction. The Court reasoned as follows:

Sergeant Walters was qualified as an expert in crime scene processing and fingerprint identification. As such, he was qualified to testify, as he did, to measurements taken at the scene, to the recovery of shell casings, and to the identification of blood stains. He exceeded the scope of his expertise when he was permitted, over appellant’s objection, to impart to the jury his conclusion, drawn from these measurements and observations, regarding the location of the victim and the position of his body vis-a-vis the bicycle at the time of the shooting. In effect, Sergeant Walters was allowed to give his opinion on the ultimate issue: Whether appellant was acting in self-defense when he shot and killed the victim. This was error. *See* Rule 704, SCRE; *State v. Wilkins*, 305 S.C. 272, 407 S.E.2d 670 (Ct.App.1991) (opinion may be offered on ultimate issue only where witness is otherwise qualified).

Ellis, 345 S.C. 175, 177-78, 547 S.E.2d at 491. Further, the Court found that the error could not be harmless because of Ellis’ claim that he acted in self-defense and the State’s closing argument, which repeatedly referred to the officer’s testimony as “scientific evidence.” *Id* at 178-79, 547 S.E.2d at 491-92.¹⁸

¹⁸ The Court noted that “the State was free to argue that the evidence supported an inference that the victim was astride the bicycle when shot,” and that “the jury could certainly have concluded that he was.” However, the Court found that admission of the officer’s opinion to this effect was prejudicial error. *Id* at

In the present case, however, Cestare did not reach an opinion based upon the measurements that he had taken that day. Rather, he was merely testifying about the common sense proposition that the victim's hand could not have been shot in the position in which it was found by police because the wound would not have gone through his hand, as it did. Again, the physical evidence was that the victim was seated in the driver's seat; the shooter, Beaty was standing on the driver's side of the car; and the victim's gun was on the victim's right side, under his t-shirt, and tucked into the waistband of his pants, when the officers removed him from the vehicle. **R. pp. 236-45.** Thus, Cestare testified to the quite natural inference that the victim's hand must have been up when he received the wound to it because his body would have been between Beaty and his right hand, and his right hand would not have been at such an angle to the Beaty that it would have permitted a through and through wound, as occurred.

This was demonstrated by the two photographs that were taken that day and on which he premised his testimony. "A natural inference based on stated facts is not opinion evidence. Where the distinction between fact and opinion is blurred, it is often best to leave the matter to the discretion of the trial judge." *State v. Williams*, 321 S.C. 455, 464, 469 S.E.2d 49, 54 (1996). *See also Commonwealth v. Lodge*, 727 N.E.2d 1194 (Mass. 2000) (detective with extensive experience in investigating homicides may have general knowledge to testify that falling blood forms teardrop shape without rising to level of expert "blood spatter" evidence; however, detective was not asked appropriate foundational questions).

Furthermore, and assuming that Specialist Cestare's testimony is considered as the opinion of an expert, Respondent submits that the trial judge did not abuse his discretion by permitting this

178, 547 S.E.2d at 491.

testimony because, contrary to Beaty's argument and unlike the scenario involved in *Ellis*, Specialist Cestare had specialized knowledge that assisted the trier of fact to understand the evidence and to determine a fact in issue, based upon his knowledge, experience, training and education. He was qualified, without objection, as an expert in the field of forensic investigation, and he testified that he had previously testified as an expert seven or eight times in Horry County and "upwards of fifty" times in New York courts. **R. p. 235, line 13 - p. 236, line 5.**

He was not qualified merely as an expert in crime scene processing or as a crime scene technician. *Contra Ellis*, 345 S.C. at 177, 547 S.E.2d at 491. Rather, his expertise was "forensic investigation." Moreover, his testimony concerning his education and work experience reflected that he had been with the Horry County Police Department for eight years and that he was employed by the N.Y.C.P.D. before that. Also, he worked with the New York City Housing Police Department under N.Y.P.D., where he eventually became a detective commander and "was in charge of their special investigations unit which would consist of major cases, homicides, mechanical deaths, things of that nature.

With respect to his training, he testified that he had received training in the areas of "crime scene processing and analysis by N.Y.P.D. and the Department of Justice, crime scene reconstruction by N.Y.P.D. and the Department of Justice, ballistics alignment, laser and trajectory by N.Y.P.D." **R. p. 234, line 13 - p. 235, line 12.** Additionally and again contrary to *Ellis*, in explaining the nature of his expertise, he testified that he analyzes crime scenes and that he is periodically called upon to reconstruct those scenes. **R. pp. 233-34.**

Respondent would note that other courts have sanctioned expert testimony from seasoned police officers, where the subject matter involved drawing common sense conclusions that are more

obvious or noticeable to an officer due to his or her long experience with those types of crime. *See, e.g. State v. Vega*, 691 A.2d 22 (Conn. App. Ct. 1997) ("It is common to qualify law enforcement officers as experts in the conduct of criminals because of their experience and the lack of such knowledge among lay jurors"); *Casey v. State*, 523 S.E.2d 395 (Ga. Ct. App. 1999) (officer's training and experience qualified him to opine about DUI defendant's driving abilities); *State v. Crosby*, 748 So.2d 502 (La. Ct. App. 1999) (officer with experience and training in narcotics trade could give expert testimony as to packaging of narcotics; this merely assisted jury in understanding packaging of cocaine for retail sale in order to judge defendant's claim that he merely possessed for personal use); *Commonwealth v. Frias*, 712 N.E.2d 1178 (Mass. App. Ct. 1999) (police officer may give expert testimony as to how drug transactions are carried out on the street level: this may (or may not) assist the untrained jury in understanding the evidence they have heard of particular conduct on the street); *Bui v. State*, 964 S.W.2d 335 (Tex. Ct. App. 1998) (officers with long experience who touched and held fireplace log were qualified to give expert opinion that it could be used to beat someone to death).

In *Cammon v. State*, 500 S.E.2d 329 (Ga. 1998), the Georgia Supreme Court upheld the introduction of police opinion testimony as to the trajectory of a bullet, even though the officer was not qualified in ballistics. The Court noted that the testimony was based the officer's extensive investigation which established the facts forming his opinion. *Id* at 333. Similarly, Specialist Cestare's testimony was based on evidence gathered in his investigation, and he more than adequately established for the jury the facts behind his opinion.

Additionally, Respondent would note that although Beaty's objection was that Specialist Cestare's opinion went beyond the scope of his expertise, the objection was premised upon the

expectation that Cestare would offer an opinion inconsistent with that of the forensic pathologist that it was impossible to determine the order of the gunshot wounds. As a result, Respondent submits that the objection was improperly based upon pitting of the State's witnesses. Moreover, his opinion was consistent with her opinion. *Cf., e.g., State v. Benning*, 338 S.C. 59, 62-64 & nn. 1-2, 524 S.E.2d 852, 854-55 & nn. 1-2 (Ct.App. 1999) (Solicitor's attempts on cross-examination of defendant to pit his testimony against testimony of two prosecution witnesses were improper); *State v. Kelsey*, 331 S.C. 50, 502 S.E.2d 63 (1998) ("Although it is improper for an attorney to cross-examine a witness in such a manner as to force him to attack the veracity of another witness, improper 'pitting' constitutes reversible error only if the accused was unfairly prejudiced"); *Stephen W. Brown Radiology Associates v. Gowers*, 278 S.E.2d 653 (Ga.App. 1981) (sustaining objection to defense counsel's question to expert witness based on testimony previously given by another expert witness on ground that court was not going to allow one witness to be pitted against another witness was not error where examination of testimony given by previous expert witness showed that his testimony was opinion testimony and counsel made no effort to allow witness to testify further by asking him hypothetical question with reference to matter in issue"); *Gray Line, Inc. v. Keaton*, 428 A.2d 360, 362 (D.C. 1981) ("Appellant's expert witness testified that his examination of appellee prior to trial revealed no "objective evidence" of any condition requiring treatment. ... Thus, appellant's expert appears to be pitted against appellee herself on the issue of permanency of her injury from this particular accident") (record citation omitted). Moreover, the trial judge properly determined that Cestare's testimony did not contradict the pathologist's opinion. **R.p. 254, lines 5 - 20**. Other than his testimony that the hand wound was a defensive wound received while the hand as up, Cestare could not determine the order in which the shots were fired. **R. p. 255, lines, 22-25**.

Respondent further submits that Beaty cannot show any prejudice resulting from the trial judge's ruling because the ruling was harmless and non-prejudicial beyond a reasonable doubt, since it could not reasonably have affected the result of the trial. *See State v. Sherard*, 303 S.C. 172, 175, 399 S.E.2d 595, 596 (1991) ("Error in a criminal prosecution is harmless when it could not reasonably have affected the result of the trial"); *State v. Bailey*, 298 S.C. 1, 5, 377 S.E.2d 581, 584 (1989) ("When guilt has been conclusively proven by competent evidence such that no other rational conclusion can be reached, the Court should not set aside a conviction because of insubstantial errors not affecting the result"). Specifically, Respondent notes that Cestare's opinion is merely cumulative to that of Dr. Schandl that the through and through gunshot wound to the victim's right hand was a defensive wound. While Dr. Schandl could not determine on which side of the hand the entrance wound was located (**R. pp. 212; 214; 226**), she unequivocally opined that this was a defensive wound, explaining that "[a]ny wound that's to the hands or even to the forearms is considered a defensive wound because one can presume that one would attempt to defend themselves if they were being fired upon, so it is consistent with a defensive wound." **R. p. 219.**

Moreover, Beaty conveniently overlooks that even if the victim had been reaching for a gun, as Beaty suggests, any wound that he received in the course of doing so was necessarily a defensive wound because he was the victim of an armed robbery.¹⁹ The applicable law was succinctly stated in *State v. Bryant*, 336 S.C. 340, 345, 520 S.E.2d 319, 322 (1999):

"[O]ne who provokes or initiates an assault cannot escape criminal liability by

¹⁹ Armed robbery occurs when "[a] person ... commits robbery while armed with a pistol, dirk, slingshot, metal knuckles, razor, or other deadly weapon, or while alleging, either by action or words, he was armed while using a representation of a deadly weapon or any object which a person present during the commission of the robbery reasonably believed to be a deadly weapon." S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-330(A) (2001).

invoking self defense” Ferdinand S. Tinio, *Comment Note: Withdrawal, After Provocation of Conflict, As Reviving Right Of Self-Defense*, 55 A.L.R.3d 1000, 1003 (1974). “Any act of the accused in violation of law and reasonably calculated to produce the occasion amounts to bringing on the difficulty and bars his right to assert self-defense as a justification or excuse for a homicide. 40 Am.Jur.2d *Homicide* § 149 (1999). “[A] robber, who is met with such violent resistance by his victim that he has no opportunity to convince [the] victim that he has abandoned his criminal intentions and only wants to withdraw, may not claim self defense if he injures or kills his victim.” 55 A.L.R.3d at 1003-04; *see also United States v. Thomas*, 34 F.3d 44 (2d Cir.1994) (one who commits or attempts a robbery armed with deadly force and kills the intended victim when victim responds with force may not avail himself of the defense of self-defense); *People v. Couch*, 436 Mich. 414, 461 N.W.2d 683 (1990) (a robber or other wrongdoer engaged in felonious conduct has no privilege of self-defense); *Stiles v. State*, 829 P.2d 984 (Okla.Crim.App.1992) (one who kills while committing armed robbery is an aggressor and an aggressor is not entitled to a claim of self-defense).

The victim, therefore, had a right to defend himself, even to the point of using lethal force.

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